led by Helsingin yliopiston digitaalinen arkisto

ORE

The consequences of spatial environmental variability on dispersal and on the spatial distribution of species







Christoph M. Meier



Helsinki 2012

Academic dissertation

The consequences of spatial environmental variability on dispersal and on the spatial distribution of species

Christoph M. Meier

Department of Biosciences

Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences

University of Helsinki

Finland

To be presented for public examination with the permission of the Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences of the University of Helsinki in the lecture hall at the Tvärminne field station, J.A. Palménin tie 260, 10900 Hanko, on May 25th 2012 at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2012

Supervised by:	Prof. Hanna Kokko Australia National University, Australia University of Helsinki, Finland
	Prof. Veijo Kaitala University of Helsinki, Finland
	Prof. Dries Bonte Ghent University, Belgium
Reviewed by:	Prof. Justin Travis University of Aberdeen, UK
	Prof. Ben Phillips James Cook University, Australia
Examined by:	Prof. Tomas Pärt Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden
Custos:	Prof. Pekka Pamilo University of Helsinki, Finland
Expert members of the thesi	s advisory committee: Dr. Otso Ovaskainen University of Helsinki, Finland
	Dr. Hannu Pietiäinen University of Helsinki, Finland

ISBN 978-952-10-7981-8 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-7982-5 (pdf) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2012

e-mail: c_meier@gmx.ch

Layout: Christoph M. Meier Cover page: Christoph M. and Matthias S. Meier This thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Meier C. M., Doligez B., Jaakonen T, Bonte D. Birds search for nesting opportunities whenever time allows: on the use of personal information in Collared Flycatchers. Manuscript.
- II Meier C.M., Starrfelt J., Hanna K., 2011, Mate limitation causes sexes to coevolve towards more similar dispersal kernels. Oikos. 120: 1459-1468
- III Meier C. M., Bonte D., Kaitala A., Ovaskainen O. The invasion speed of the ectoparasite deer ked is modified by spatio-temporally varying host density. Ecological applications. Submitted.

Contributions

		I			111
Origir	nal idea	СМ		CM, HK, JS, WV	CM, AK
Mode	l / study design	CM, BD, LG		CM, HK	CM, OO
Data o	collection	CM, TJ, ML			CM, AK
Data a	analysis	CM, DB		CM, HK, WV	CM, OO
Manu	script preparation	CM, BD, DB		CM, HK, JS, WV	CM, OO, DB
CM:	Christoph M. Meier		JS:	Jostein Starrfelt	
AK:	Arja Kaitala		ML:	Mélissa Lemoine	
BD:	Blandine Doligez		00:	Otso Ovaskainen	
DB:	Dries Bonte		TJ:	Tuomo Jaakkonen	
HK:	Hanna Kokko		WV:	Wouter K. Vahl	
LG:	Lars Gustafsson				

© Christoph M. Meier (summary)

- © The authors (Chapter I, III)
- © Wiley Interscience (Chapter II)

Contents

Abstract	5
Introduction and summary	
Dispersal: definition and causes	6
Complexity of dispersal	8
Consequences of dispersal on species distribution	9
The aim of this thesis	11
When is information on availability of nesting sites important for dispersal? Chapter I	12
Study species and system	14
Does the availability of mates influence the evolution of sex-specific dispersal? Chapter 11	16
Influences spatio-temporal variability in host density the spread rate of an ectoparasite? Chapter III	18
Spatial modelling	19
Concluding remarks	20
References	22
Acknowledgements	31
Chapter I: Birds search for nesting opportunities whenever time allows: on the use of personal information in Collared Flycatchers	35
Chapter II: Mate limitation causes sexes to coevolve towards more similar dispersal kernels	61
Chapter III: The invasion speed of the ectoparasite deer ked is modified by spatio temporally varying host density	73

Abstract

A central goal in ecology is to identify and understand causal factors that lead to the expansion or contraction of species' ranges. Spatio - temporal population dynamics depend on biotic and abiotic environmental conditions, local demography, dispersal behaviour, and phenotypic variation. In particular understanding dispersal behaviour turns out to be a tough problem, because complex feedback loops between dispersal, local demography, and individual variations can arise. Furthermore, attempts previous to understand dispersal by reducing the complexity either in space or time have often resulted in a disregard of these feedbacks. The aim of this thesis was to investigate the influence of dispersal on spatio-temporal population dynamics with models and experiments that explicitly consider the multi causality of dispersal. The thesis is composed of three different studies: Firstly, for an active dispersing species, a plausible factor affecting dispersal behaviour could be personal information. Birds, for example, might gather information on future nest sites and, as a result, individuals differ in the amount and quality of information they possess for use in reaching a dispersal decision. We manipulated the information available to flycatchers (Ficedula hypoleuca) in a field experiment and we

found that individuals which were longer the information altered exposed to dispersal behaviour to a greater extent, but only at a local spatial extent. Secondly, models of sex-biased dispersal rarely take space into account. With a computer simulation model, we showed that acknowledging the spatial distribution of the sexes has consequences for the evolutionary outcome of the model leading to selection of more similar dispersal behaviour among the two sexes. Thirdly, models of invasion spread rate often ignore the dependency of dispersal on environmental heterogeneity. We expanded on a reaction-diffusion model to improve this deficit and show that the invasion dynamics of an ecto-parasite (deer ked, *Lipoptena cervi*) is dependent on the local density of its main host, moose (Alces alces), across its Finnish range. In conclusion, these studies point at the necessity to consider interactions between dispersal and environmental variability, feedbacks between causal of realistic factor dispersal, and assumptions about space and time in order to solve the conundrum of factors determining the spatio-temporal distribution of species.

Introduction and summary

Understanding the factors that determine the expansion or contraction of a given species' spatial distribution is a central question in ecology. Intuitively, species occurrence should first of all be determined by variation in the abiotic and biotic environment, i.e. a species' niche. Niche-based species distribution modelling approaches indeed appear to be successful in predicting stationary species' ranges (e.g. Guisan and Zimmermann 2000, Thuiller et al. 2005), however these models typically fail to account for any dynamics in the species distribution (Phillips et al. 2008b, Gallien et al. 2010). The reason is that the distribution of a species also depends on ecological and evolutionary constraints. The actual distribution therefore fails to correspond, or does so only with a delay, to the spatiotemporal variation in the environment due to factors intrinsic to the species biology (Gaston 2003). Thus it is crucial to establish а mechanistic understanding of a species' ability to reach a location and to establish as a vital population there (Kokko and Lopez-Sepulcre 2006, Gallien et al. 2010). This requires understanding the dynamics of spatially structured populations (Hanski and Gaggiotti 2004), together with the fundamental eco-evolutionary like components local population dynamics individual variation. and Foremost, it requires us to understand dispersal, since this is the behaviour which leads to the spatial dynamic in a species' distribution (Holt 2003, Kinlan and Hastings 2005).

With this summary, I will briefly introduce dispersal and highlight some of the challenges for studying dispersal. I will then explain how dispersal has direct consequences on the distribution of a species, before I will move on to the question of my own work. And finally I will present my findings and discuss the implication.

Dispersal: definition and causes

Traditionally, dispersal has been defined as movement from the natal patch to the breeding patch (natal dispersal) and in animals (birds in particular) also as relocation between consecutive breeding patches (breeding dispersal) (Greenwood and Harvey 1982). Thus, for example, migration of birds is annual not considered dispersal because it does not involve reproduction and hence does not make a lasting contribution to the species distribution. In that sense Greenwood's definition is very useful because it clearly separates dispersal from other movement without the direct purpose of reproduction (thus I used it in Chapter I). However, dispersal is often risky and individuals might fail to survive or reproduce after dispersal (Bonte et al. 2011). This has important consequences for the fitness of a dispersal strategy and a better definition is therefore "dispersal is movement that potentially leads to gene flow" because, defined this way, it also includes failed breeders and attempts to disperse (Ronce 2007).

Ronce (2007) also highlights that dispersal is a very complex trait that can have multiple simultaneously acting causes. To disentangle the relevance of different causal factors the literature has often argued about the costs and benefits of a sedentary versus a dispersal strategy (Clobert et al. 2001). This has led to the broad recognition of ultimate causal factors behind dispersal evolution (Bowler and Benton 2005, Ronce 2007): spatiotemporal variability in the abiotic and biotic conditions leads to variation in local fitness and, as a consequence, evolving dispersal allows individuals to reach sites with higher fitness rewards (McPeek and Holt 1992). Likewise, demographic stochasticity introduces variation in densities between different populations and promotes the evolution of dispersal (Travis and Dytham 1998, Cadet et al. 2003). In ephemeral environments dispersal is vital to avoid confinement to a patch which eventually goes extinct (Comins et al. 1980, Olivieri et al. 1995). In addition, the evolution of dispersal is affected by the spatial clumping of parents and their offspring as well as siblings. This clumping results in stronger local competition among kin compared to nonkin for space and resources. Hamilton and May 1977 showed that this is, in itself, sufficient to promote dispersal even under the absence of external environmental fluctuation. Likewise, the spatial concentration of kin increases the probability of inbreeding, thereby favouring sex-biased dispersal strategies (e.g. only one sex emigrates) to assure outbreeding (Gandon 1999, Perrin and Mazalov 2000).

Typically, there is high between-individual variation in dispersal probability, and philopatry is not uncommon (Greenwood 1980). This can often be explained by proximate factors (Clobert et al. 2001, Bowler and Benton 2005), which can be extrinsic abiotic and biotic environmental factors, for example barriers between habitats (Hanski et al. 2002, Schneider et al. 2003) and vegetation cover at the habitat (Orians and Wittenberger 1991, Nocera et al. 2006, Arlt and Part 2008), or factors intrinsic to populations, including the availability of mates (Greenwood 1980, Lawrence 1987, 1988), breeding failure (Greenwood and Harvey 1982, Switzer 1997) and density of conspecifics (Matthysen 2005).

The direction of the effect these factors have on dispersal is not predetermined, for three reasons. First, dispersal is a process that consists of different phases: departure, transience and settlement (Stamps 2001). Proximate factors might have different effects dependent on the phase during which they prevail (Bonte et al. 2012). Second, each factor's influence on dispersal can interact with the state of the individual (Dufty et al. 2001). For example, dispersal rate is often different between the sexes and age classes (Greenwood and Harvey 1982) and chapter II). And third, the reaction norm for each factor does not have to be constant, which can result in condition dependent dispersal (Ims and Hjermann 2001). In particular, population density often has a positive effect on emigration probability (Matthysen 2005), but this effect can reverse at low densities to avoid Allee effects. Especially in birds this can often be observed in combination with conspecific attraction (Stamps 2001, Nocera et al. 2006).

Dispersal can be state dependent or condition dependent which makes it a plastic trait, allowing quick and opportunistic adoption of behavioural tactics in fast-changing environments (Stamps 2001). Condition dependent dispersal can outperform a random dispersal strategy, provided there is a cue that provides reliable information about the pay-off of philopatry or dispersal (Travis et al. 1999, Doligez et al. 2003). Clobert et al. (2009) has suggested that to understand this plasticity we need to study how the organism perceives information related to the environment and how it then uses the information for dispersal decision making. He suggests two mechanisms by which an individual can perceive this information: either during development, such that an internal state or special morphological features develops to affect the individual's probability to disperse, or as a cognitive process which includes active information gathering to allow decision making in each phase of dispersal. The latter behaviour, best studied in birds, is called prospecting (Reed et al. 1999). It is, for instance, known that birds collect information on the breeding success of conspecifics and use this to direct their dispersal towards successful breeding sites (Boulinier et al. 2002, Doligez et al. 2004b). Nevertheless, relatively little is known about prospecting, because credible test of how birds collect information have to rely on elaborate manipulative experiments (Doligez et al. 2002). Therefore it is, for example, still unclear when the relevant information is gathered. The timing of prospecting could enlighten how far ahead dispersal decisions are made and could us help understand the types of information involved in decision making. I will return to these questions later in the introduction of chapter I.

Complexity of dispersal

Finding a coherent framework for dispersal has been difficult beyond detecting the causes. Dispersal is a life history trait that contributes substantially to an individual's fitness and is thus itself under selection (Clobert et al. 2004). Since dispersal is a process with several phases, different fitness costs levied by different causal factors of dispersal can act in series at different phases. As we pointed out last year, this can create feedbacks between different dispersal phases and other life history traits, and consequently constrains dispersal evolution (Bonte et al. 2011). Thus, understanding dispersal essentially requires manipulative experiments which can separate the influence of each factor individually.

A second problem is that explicit spatial consequences of dispersal are rarely considered, even though dispersal is obviously a spatial trait (Ronce 2007). Theory often only attempts to explain whether it is adaptive to stay or to disperse, whereas in reality dispersal can lead to an organism moving any distance, on a continuum scale, from its place of birth, and the fitness consequences can accordingly vary. For addressing this problem our focus should be directed towards explaining the evolution of dispersal distance, rather than dispersal probabilities (Travis and French 2000, Murrell et al. 2002, Ronce 2007). This is important because different causal factors of dispersal might not operate at the same spatial scale (Ronce et al. 2001), and trade-offs between factors can only be fully understood when the spatial aspect of dispersal is explicitly acknowledged. For example, when dispersal costs increase with distance, these costs trade off with the ability of an organism to avoid competition among kin and with its ability to colonize new suitable habitat in a highly patchy environment. How the trade-off is solved only becomes apparent when the spatial scale is explicitly accounted for. To

avoid kin competition, moving out of the parent's territory might be sufficient, while to find suitable habitats in a patchy environment, longer distance dispersal might be required and selected for. Similarly, parent-offspring conflict over the optimal dispersal strategy only becomes apparent when explicitly considering space (Starrfelt and Kokko 2010), and the same is necessary to study differences in dispersal behaviour between males and females (see chapter II).

Finally, eco-evolutionary feedback loops are formed when a trait has consequences variance for the in population demography, in turn determining, via frequency dependence, the selection pressure for this trait (Kokko and Lopez-Sepulcre 2007). Dispersal is a trait that introduces spatial variance in population demography, thus the eco-evolutionary feedback needs to be considered for the evolution of dispersal. However, the feedback loop only becomes apparent when the effect of dispersal on the local population demography is realistically described, which is only the case when actual dispersal distances are captured. This point I will consider further in chapter II.

Consequences of dispersal on species distribution

Simulation models show that dispersal can be the most important aspect of the spatial distribution of a species (Coutts et al. 2011). However, the complexity of dispersal has hindered full integration of this mechanism in models of dynamic species' ranges (Gallien et al. 2010). The current state of art of modelling the distribution of а non-static species distribution uses reaction-diffusion models, metapopulation models, or integrodifference models (Kinlan and Hastings 2005, Jongejans et al. 2008). Reaction-diffusion models assume that an individual's movement resembles the random movement of molecules (Okubo 1980, Turchin 1998, Okubo and Levin 2002). Metapopulation models assume a network of discrete habitat sites exchanging individuals among sites, usually dependent on the size of sites and the distance between them (Hanski 1994, Hanski and Gaggiotti 2004). Finally, integro-differential models predict a stagestructured population at a discrete number of sites (Neubert and Caswell 2000). These models make few restrictive assumptions about dispersal, though they can only model discrete time steps (Van den Bosch et al. 1990, Van den Bosch et al. 1992, Kot et al. 1996). All models resemble each other in how the spatial population dynamic is implemented: it comprises the growth rate of each local population and dispersal. For this purpose, dispersal is subsumed to a dispersal kernel, which is a continuous function describing the probabilistic distribution of propagules in relation to the distance of the source (Cousens et al. 2008). The kernel is simply a statistical summary of the pattern how

propagules of the entire population spread in space from their place of birth. In plants this is often referred to as "seed shadow". The motivation to summarize dispersal in the form of a kernel is necessary for an analytical mathematical solution for the propagule density in space (I spare the mathematical details here, and refer to a good introduction in Cousens et al. 2008 or Turchin 1998). The conclusion is: the kernel is a function that should contain all information about dispersal. Therefore great attention has been paid to the shape skewness and the variance of the kernel (Bullock et al. 2002, Cousens et al. 2008, Jongejans et al. 2008). In particular, the tail of the kernel has important implications since it describes the proportion of long-distance dispersal moves, which is known to have a significant influence on the invasion speed of a species (Clark 1998, Clark et al. 2001). This finding sparked criticism of the reaction-diffusion model, which offers no flexibility to assume a long tailed kernel (Kot et al. 1996). Furthermore, a kernel does not have to be constant over time. The evolution of the kernel is indeed relevant for predicting species' distributions, since evolution can happen while an invasion is ongoing, i.e. within a short time of only few decades (Phillips et al. 2008a). Simulation models have examined selection on the kernel in response to frequency and aggregation of suitable habitat (Murrell et al. 2002, Cousens et al. 2008, Lindstrom et al.

2011), and in the presence of kin selection (Hovestadt et al. 2001, Rousset and Gandon 2002, Starrfelt and Kokko 2010).

Despite these growing insights about the kernel's shape, there is still a wide gap before other aspects of dispersal can be incorporated in species' distribution models. Generally the kernel is expected to be invariant both spatially and between individuals (With 2002, Hastings et al. 2005, but see e.g. Petrovskii et al. 2011). This expectation contrasts with numerous studies that report spatial variation in spread rate correlating with environmental heterogeneity (e.g. Sharov et al. 1999, Urban et al. 2007, LeBrun et al. 2008). This has led to a growing body of literature studying how environmental variability could be integrated with more realism (Gilbert et al. 2004, Muirhead et al. 2006) or even in mechanistically derived dispersal kernels (Jongejans et al. 2008, Travis et al. 2011).

Especially mechanistic model hold the promise that ultimately they potentially yield more robust results which are more confidential when making projections into novel parameter space, because they capture more of the biological relevance in the system (Travis et al. 2012). Kernels, for example, were developed for wind dispersed seed, to model the influenced of seed release height and wind velocity on the trajectory of seeds (Katul et al. 2005, Skarpaas and Shea 2007), and in seeds with zoochory the behaviour of the vector and retention time of the seed on the vector have been investigated to improve prediction for dispersal (Wichmann et al. 2009, Bullock et al. 2011). As a result adopting a combination between spatially realistic and mechanistic models is increasingly becoming popular in model for the spread of species, in particular for scenarios with future climate expectations (Bullock et al. 2012), or different land management strategies (Travis et al. 2011).

An interesting alternative could be the inverse modelling approach: inferring the shape of the kernel from the pattern we observe when a species invades (Wiegand et al. 2003, Grimm et al. 2005). A model using this approach has the advantage that it can infer the shape of the dispersal kernel which captures information that is indeed relevant for the dynamic process of the species distribution (in particular the spread of the species). The challenge, however, is to explain both spatial and temporal variability in the environment (Cook et al. 2007, Hooten and Wikle 2008, Stanaway et al. 2011). Chapter III presents a possibility how such a model can be constructed.

The aim of this thesis

The aim of this thesis was to focus on particular gaps in our knowledge of how spatial variability in the environment affects the dispersal and the dynamics of species' ranges. I had the aspiration to investigate the question both by theoretical approaches and by experimental work. I chose to focus on three different research questions on the complex interaction between the spatial variability and the way it affects the spatial distribution of individuals. In chapter I, I investigated if birds use information on availability of nesting sites for their dispersal decision. Specifically I was interested in when exactly birds gather this information, because this could shed light on how much information is available at the moment of making the dispersal decision. In chapter II, I study how alternative selective pressures on the evolution of sex-specific dispersal arise when dispersal is modelled in a spatially explicit way. Such a model includes the link between dispersal and the distribution of individuals in space, which is necessary to account for spatial variation in local sex ratio and acknowledging the eco-evolutionary feedback at work. Finally, in chapter III, I tested whether spatio-temporal variability in host density has an influence on the spread rate of an ectoparasite when the ectoparasite is expanding its range.

When is information on availability of nesting sites important for dispersal? Chapter I

For active dispersal it can be of great advantage to perceive variation in environmental suitability and use this information for dispersal decisions (Danchin et al. 2001). Gathering information for this purpose, termed prospecting, is very widely observed in birds (Reed et al. 1999). Examples include birds other than the parents entering foreign nest box to retrieve information on the status of the brood of conspecifics (Doligez et al. 1999). There is clear evidence that birds actually use such information when making dispersal decisions (Reed et al. 1999). Birds are often attracted to settle in the vicinity of conspecifcs (Valone and Templeton 2002, Fletcher 2006) and experiments have shown that they preferably settle near locations where conspecifics had high reproductive success in the previous year (Doligez et al. 2002, Boulinier et al. 2008).

Open question about prospecting remain: an interesting and potentially important one is when exactly do birds collect the relevant information (Reed et al. 1999)? One could expect that the decision of where to settle requires systematic consideration of different locations, and this might take time. This time might be lacking at the peak of breeding activity, requiring birds to spend considerable time for brood care (Danchin et al. 2001, Danchin and Cam 2002). Migratory birds might be even more time constrained, since they attend breeding grounds for only a short period of the year. These birds might only have a short time span after the breeding season to prospect the environment. Furthermore, some cues might be harder to sample than others. Checking whether the neighbour was successful in fledging some chicks might take less time than estimating food availability or precise locations of nests in a certain area (Boulinier et al. 1996, Danchin et al. 2001).

For chapter I, I performed a field experiment to test when collared flycatcher gather information on the availability of nesting sites (see section 'study system'). This is a system where time constraints for prospecting are likely: Collared flycatchers are migratory and obligate secondary cavity-breeders that have to invest searching time in finding available nesting sites. We manipulated the density of available nesting sites in different forest plots and studied the dispersal decisions that birds made in the successive year. This was compared to control forest plots where the density of breeding sites remained unchanged. To determine when the birds use the information, we manipulated density of breeding sites with two treatments (i) during the nestling period only (*half-time* treatment) and (ii) during both the nestling period and the pre-migration period (*full-time* treatment).

In contrast to expectations, time did not seem to constrain the birds when gathering information on availability of breeding sites, because both treatments were found to have an effect on the birds' dispersal behaviour. The longer we had manipulated available breeding sites, the further birds tended to dispersal in the next year (Fig 1). This treatment had no effect on the proportion of birds dispersing among forest plots, but it affected how far birds dispersed within each forest and thus it had consequences on the small scale distribution of birds' individuals. Interestingly, the activity of singing and alarming also decreased in manipulated forests plots the year after the treatment (Fig 2). This decline was strongest immediately after the birds returned from migration. It







Figure 1. Distribution of observed (a) within and (b) between plots dispersal distances in collared flycatcher. Dispersal distances increased when nest boxes were available for prospecting for a shorter time. The label on the x-axes shows the maximal distance for each distance classes.



bounced back as the season progressed and the birds had time to update their information on the restored breeding site's density.

My experiment therefore showed that birds indeed collect information on availability of nesting sites in advance of making their dispersal decision. However, there seems to be no time constraints for prospecting on a cue which is permanently available. This conclusion only held true within a forest, and beyond this spatial scale birds do not appear to rely on information on the availability of nesting sites.

Study species and system

The collared flycatchers (Ficedula albicollis) (Fig. 3) of Gotland offer an excellent system to study the dispersal of birds. The landscape in the south of Gotland, a Swedish island in the Baltic Sea (57°6′N, 18°19'E), is composed of agricultural land with fragments of pine and deciduous forests in between (Fig. 4). Especially the deciduous forests are

Figure 2. Temporal change in acoustic activity (alarm calls and songs) in each forest plot over the season for the different treatments: fulltime (black), half-time (gray), and control (white with double line), starting on April 24th (which corresponds to 2009 day 1). Flycatchers in plots with nest boxes removed, and thus with less opportunity for prospecting, showed a lower acoustic activity compared to the *control* forest plots at the beginning of the season following the manipulation, and this difference remained longer in the full-time treatment.

habitat for the northernmost breeding populations of collared flycatcher (Svensson 1992). In these forest fragments nest boxes have been provided for the birds since the early 80s (Gustafsson 1986, 1987). By now, the entire project comprises over 2800 boxes in 41 forest fragments. Collared flycatchers readily accept artificial nest boxes: Pärt and Gustafsson (1989) estimated that when boxes are available fewer than 5% of the birds breed in natural holes (Pärt and Gustafsson 1989). This allows trapping, banding, and monitoring breeding success of a substantial part of the entire island's flycatcher breeding population, offering a unique opportunity to track the birds' natal and breeding dispersal.

The collared flycatcher is a long-distance migrant that overwinters in central Africa. The birds arrive on Gotland in late April until late May, yearlings arriving on average a few days later than adults. About one week after arrival birds start building nests. From mid-May until the beginning of June, females lay 5-7 eggs (rarely 4 or 8), incubate alone for about 13 days, after which both parents provision the brood between 16 to 19 days (Cramp and Simmons 1988). This was the time when caught birds: females during we incubation, males between day 6 and day 14 of brood provisioning, and chicks were banded when they were 8 days old. Afterwards, from mid-June until early July, juveniles fledge and parents, which undergo their molt at the same time (Jenni and Winkler 1994), still provide for them another two to three weeks. Departure for migration starts in August, adults usually departing before juveniles. Regarding dispersal behavior in collared flycatcher, it is known that most birds return faithfully to the same forest plot every year, but within the forest, shifting between breeding sites is more likely than in other comparable birds (Gustafsson 1989, Pärt and Gustafsson 1989). As is generally found for birds (Greenwood 1980), collared flycatchers disperse longer distances in natal than breeding dispersal (Pärt 1990), females disperse generally further than males (Pärt and Gustafsson 1989, Pärt 1990) and low reproductive success in one year increases dispersal distance (Doligez et al. 1999). The propensity to disperse in the species is heritable to some degree (Doligez et al. 2009). The propensity to leave a forest can be density dependent, although the effect depends on the individual's state: Density affects breeding dispersal positively in adult males, but the effect on the dispersal



Figure 3. Male (left) and female (right) of collared flycatcher. The female has built its nest in a artificial box belonging to the study area of Gotland. Pictures kindly provided by Heikki Eriksson.



Figure 4 Location of flycatcher study plots within the forest (grey) fragmented landscape in the southern part of Gotland. The colours of the plot refer to *full-time* treatment (blue), *half-time* treatment (red), *control* plots (yellow), and forest plots not included in the experiment set up of chapter I, but where birds were also recaptured (green). Map reconstructed from Google map.

of females and yearling males is negative (Doligez et al. 1999). Previous studies already confirmed that information gathering exists in collared flycatchers: Birds are attracted by high breeding activities of conspecifics (Doligez et al. 2004a). They use this information, in that local high reproductive success of conspecifics (both chick condition and quantity) impacts settlement decisions in the next year (Doligez et al. 2002, Doligez et al. 2004b).

An important reason why birds may have to shift their breeding site within the forest is competition for nest holes with great tits (Parus major), and to a lesser extent also with blue tits (Cyanistes caeruleus), Eurasian nuthatches (Sitta europea), coal tits (Patus ater) and pied flycatchers (Ficedula hypoleuca) (Gustafsson 1987). As the flycatcher species is the only migratory species on this list, they have the opportunity to choose nest-holes approximately only 2 weeks after the resident species. Nevertheless, flycatchers have been found to be attracted by high tit density, which could be another type of information use. Presumably because tits stay at the breeding site overwinter, flycatchers might usefully copy their habitat choice after they return from Africa (Forsman et al. 2008).

Finally, this system is attractive for the several advantages it offers for studying dispersal. By now, up to 30 people are monitoring the flycatchers on Gotland every year. This guarantees high recapture rates, including birds which disperse further. In addition, the size of the project facilitates collaboration in the field which was important to conduct my experiment in chapter I.

Does the availability of mates influence the evolution of sexspecific dispersal? Chapter II

Sex-specific dispersal behaviour has been documented in a wide range of different species (Greenwood 1980). Avoidance of inbreeding (Lehmann and Perrin 2003), sex-specific competition between kin (Motro 1991), sex-specific costs of dispersal (Bonte et al. 2009), mating success, and benefits of philopatry (Handley and Perrin 2007) have all been invoked as explanations for these patterns. All of these factors have, however, focused on explaining why dispersal behaviour differs between the sexes. Only rarely has it been pointed out that there is also a risk for males and females to remain unmated, if the different dispersal distances lead to strong reductions in the local availability of mates (Gros et al. 2008, Gros et al. 2009). The fitness of both sexes is therefore strongly dependent on densities of both sexes (Hirota 2007), which is sufficient to create an evolutionary feedback (Kokko and Lopez-Sepulcre 2007). Densities of both sexes have been overlooked as selective force in the evolution of sex-biased dispersal. It appears important to fill in this gap, not least because, in contrast to all the other forces this should lead to more, rather than less, similar dispersal behaviour in the sexes. First we illustrated with a conceptual model how dispersal and demographic stochasticity can create variance in the density of one sexes, and how increased variance indeed results in a higher selective pressure for the opposite sex to disperse, balancing some of this variance in density.

Then we investigated how this can influence the evolutionary dynamic of sexspecific dispersal with an individual based model (see section on spatial modelling). With the individual based model we were able to account for dispersal distances explicitly, which was necessary for realistically accounting for the effect that dispersal has on the densities. To demonstrate that the evolution of the two sexes indeed depend on each other we examined three scenarios: First, females were forced to disperse according to a fixed mean dispersal distance and males could adapt to the emerging female densities, second, the opposite situation where males were forced to disperse and females could evolve, and third, both sex could evolve in accordance to the other's sex density.

The result was clear: after evolution for approximately 1000 generations, dispersal distances of males and females across all 500 replicates per scenario were positively correlated (Fig 5). Both males and females adapted to the dispersal distance of the opposite sex, and when both sexes could evolve, we observed co-evolution towards more similar dispersal behaviour.



Figure 5. Results of 500 simulations for each of three scenarios: males could adapt to the fixed dispersal kernel of females (A), females could adapt to the fixed dispersal kernel of males (B), and both sexes were free to evolve (C). Simulations differed only in the combination of initial mean of the dispersal kernels of males and females. Symbols indicate the initial mean of the dispersal kernels of populations that went extinct during the settlement period (+), during the time we simulated evolution (x), and the evolved means of the population that persisted (•). The smaller the bias in sexspecific dispersal in a population the closer the symbols are to the diagonal (solid line). The white areas (where + and x are missing) show the parameter space where populations were viable.

Thus, because our model accounted for the possibility of an eco-evolutionary feedback, we could highlight the role of a factor (mate limitation) which leads to coevolution between the sexes in dispersal distance, reduces the sex bias in dispersal and, thus, potentially mitigates sex-bias promoting factors.

Influences spatio temporal variability in host density the spread rate of an ectoparasite? Chapter III Environmental suitability evidently changes over time and affects also the distribution of invasive species (Domenech et al. 2005, Ficetola et al. 2010). Insects, for example, often take advantage of incidentally occurring favourable conditions when invading new habitat (Loxdale and Lushai 1999). Also, in host-parasite systems, spatio-temporal variation is recognised as one of the most important factors driving epidemics (e.g. Keeling et al. 2001). It is therefore highly likely that the spread of an invading parasite is influenced by the spatiotemporal variability of its host. Thus, a model which can account for host variability may be needed to explain the pattern of the species' spread.

To test this prediction we used the invasion of deer ked (*Lipoptena cervi*), a common ungulate ectoparasite, which has spread across Finland within the last 50 years (Välimaki et al. 2010). The adult deer ked is permanently attached to its host. Females constantly produce pupae,

which drop off the host and develop on the ground before searching for a new host at the end of summer (Haarlov 1964). The deer ked disperses either by flying short distances during this search period, or by hitchhiking on the host. The history of the invasion had been documented by eight published surveys (Hackman 1972, Von Brander 1976, Hackman 1977, 1979, Hackman et al. 1983, Zoological Museum Finland 1988, unpublished data A. Kaitala 2008). As an additional dataset we used annual moose densities for every Finnish hunting district provided by the Finnish Game and Fisheries Research Institute.

We used Skellam's reaction diffusion model (Skellam 1951) to describe the spread of the parasite in continuous twodimensional space. To account for spatiotemporal variability we allowed each parameter (i.e., local population growth rate r and diffusion coefficient D) of the model to depend on local host density. The result was a series of four models, which included movement rate, the population growth rate, both variables, or no parameter dependent on host densities. Then we fitted the model with Bayesian parameter estimation and applied model selection techniques to quantify the strength of the parasite-host interaction and its impact on invasion speeds (see section on spatial modelling).

We found that, in the best model, both movement rate and the population growth rate were dependent on local moose density. Higher local moose densities imply higher host abundance for the deer ked, thus increasing the spread rate. Furthermore this model predicts a minimal density of 0.08 moose per km2 below which the growth rate becomes negative and the deer ked should not be able to spread (Fig. 6). This value coincides with the moose densities in 1960 when the deer ked invasion started. Moose densities have been increasing in Finland, being generally lower than the threshold density before 1960, and almost always higher after 1960 (Luoma 2002). This adds confidence to the model we selected.



Figure 6. Spread rate of the deer ked invasion predicted by the Model 3. The bold solid line shows the posterior median and the dotted lines the 95% credible interval. The vertical dotted lines indicate the lower and the upper range of the annual mean of observed moose densities between 1960 and 2008.

Spatial modelling

Models accounting for explicit spatial variability are often too complex to be solved analytically. Therefore I had to rely on numerical solutions in my thesis. In chapter II, I have used an individual based model, because these offer great flexibility for defining the relevant properties of the system: individual dispersal behaviour, population dynamics and even the spatial variation in the environment and simple rules which specify the interaction in this virtual world (Travis and Dytham 1998, 2002, Grimm et al. 2006, Kokko 2007). For example, I had to implement how individuals disperse, reproduce, die, and how each of these processes depends on density. In addition, it was essential to define the dimensions of the system in both space and time. High flexibility comes at the cost that most spatial explicit individual based models provide a highly stochastic outcome (Grimm et al. 2006). Therefore, a single run of the simulation model provides little information about the system properties. The greatest strength of individual based models is that it can provide a proof of principle. The general direction of evolution emerges from the model, which has implemented a broad range of the principles of the system under investigation, after the model has been run sufficiently often (Grimm et al. 2005). The same logic was utilized in chapter II to demonstrate that a coevolutionary feedback can emerge in the evolution of sex-specific dispersal if the model accounts for spatial heterogeneity in sex-ratio. Because the principle emerged from the system we implemented in the model, the precise choice of parameter values was of minor importance. For example, the magnitude of the dispersal distance was not crucially important; the important finding is that

the other sex adapted towards the same (as such relatively arbitrary) distance.

The second model in chapter III is a reaction-diffusion model which is a partial differential equation with two parameters: r for local population growth and D for the diffusion-like movement of individuals. This model predicts the density of the spreading species in space and time, which we interpreted as probability of the population being detected. This allowed us to calculate the likelihood of the model fitting the spatial pattern of the observed invasion. Finally we could estimate the parameters r and D using Bayesian parameter estimation through an adaptive Metropol-Hastings MCMC algorithm (Ovaskainen et al. 2008). Consequently, we found parameter values which provide model results that fit best to describe pattern of the invasion.

Both models are extremely flexible in considering realistic spatial assumptions, though they come at the cost of calculation power, excessive for a single desktop workstation. In our case, this made the use of cluster computer necessary.

Concluding remarks

Human influence, especially on land use and climate, has initiated a fast change in the environment rapidly leading to changing living conditions on this planet. To predict the consequences of this change on the ecosystem, and to prepare for responsive measures, it is necessary to understand how changes in the environmental conditions will alter species' distributions. The three chapters I present all highlight some of the complexities we are facing when trying to understand how spatial variability in the environment effects on the dispersal and on the dynamic of distribution of species.

Firstly, dispersal behaviour can interact with the state of an individual; here, collected information can be one aspect of the individual's state. Being able to pinpoint which information is relevant for dispersal decisions and when this information is collected by individuals brings us therefore a step closer towards better understanding of dispersal behaviour. Furthermore, my experiment also shows that the effect of some information is limited to a local scale. In the future, research should therefore concentrate on identifying cues that individuals use when deciding to disperse long distances and/or to settle in a new habitat. Since abiotic and biotic environmental conditions generally affect species' distribution patterns at a large scale, it is advisable to focus on such factors first. A long tradition of research habitat selection has identified on numerous factors correlating with nest site selection (e.g. Clark and Shutler 1999, Stamps 2001, Pärt et al. 2011). It appears that now would be the time to conduct more experiments which can unravel whether these factors are also involved with active decision-making in informed dispersal behaviour.

Secondly, dispersal interacts not only with the individual's state, but also with the population dynamic. The latter interaction can result in an evolutionary feedback, which has consequences for the evolution of dispersal (chapter II). This finding results from modelling dispersal in a spatially explicit manner. In the future, models on the evolution of dispersal should pay greater attention to assumptions concerning space, and the implications this has for the evolving dispersal rules. This message is strengthened by the fact that other models found similar surprising effects when accounting for space more explicitly. For example the spatial configuration of metapopulations can have an influence on the connectivity between subpopulations (Vuilleumier and Possingham 2006), and the propagation of deleterious genes can become possible in a population spreading in space (Travis et al. 2010).

Thirdly, we know that dispersal greatly depends on variation in environmental conditions, but models for species' distribution that incorporate the dynamics of spread rarely account for this fact. This is very unfortunate, because it is possible to incorporate spatio-temporal variation in the environment to the spread rate, as we show in chapter III. And even though we use the reaction-diffusion model with its very restrictive assumptions about the tail of the dispersal kernel, we found an improvement of the model when we accounted for variation in the

environment. Furthermore, by fitting the model to the pattern of a historic invasion, we also received a goodness of fit measure which can be employed for pitting different models against each other using model selection (Burnham and Anderson 2002, Cabral and Schurr 2010). In fact, both Bayesian parameter estimations and model selection are techniques, which increasingly find application in the analysis of invasion dynamics and which hold great promises for further insight. The Bayesian framework allows linking mechanistic models of spread to complex spatial pattern of the invasion (Cook et al. 2007, Phillips et al. 2008, Pagel and Schurr 2012), and Hierarchical Bayesian models allow the consideration of several different underlying processes in combination (Wikle 2003, Bled et al. 2011). This is important because dispersal itself is a combination of different processes, which all contribute simultaneously to the spatial distribution of individuals (Carrasco et al. 2010). Schurr et al. (2008), for example, suggests the differentiation between source and path effects, which either comprehend factors of the local environment or of the environment along the whole dispersal trajectory of an individual. Models in the future will have to explore which of these processes are most relevant for predicting the pattern of species distribution at the large scale. Model selection will therefore be an important tool to identify kernels

(e.g. Wang et al. 2011) and mechanistic models (e.g. Drury and Candelaria 2008)

Acknowledgements

I thank Dries Bonte Hanna Kokko, Christopher W. Wheat for commenting and proof-reading.

References

- Arlt, D., and T. Part. 2008. Post-breeding information gathering and breeding territory shifts in northern wheatears. Journal of Animal Ecology 77:211-219.
- Bled, F., J. A. Royle, and E. Cam. 2011. Hierarchical modeling of an invasive spread: the Eurasian Collared-Dove Streptopelia decaocto in the United States. Ecological Applications 21:290-302.
- Bonte, D., T. Hovestadt, and H. J. Poethke. 2009. Sex-specific dispersal and evolutionary rescue in metapopulations infected by male killing endosymbionts. Bmc Evolutionary Biology 9.
- Bonte, D., H. Van Dyck, J. M. Bullock, A. Coulon, M. Delgado, M. Gibbs, V. Lehouck, M. Matthysen, K. Mustin, M. Saastamoinen, N. Schtickzelle, V. M. Stevens, S. Vandewoestijne, M. Baquette, K. Barton, T. G. Benton, A. Chaput-Bardy, J. Clobert, C. Dytham, T. Hovestadt, C. M. Meier, S. C. F. Palmer, C. Turlure, and J. M. J. Travis. 2011. Cost of dispersal. Biological Reviews.
- Boulinier, T., E. Danchin, J. Y. Monnat, C. Doutrelant, and B. Cadiou. 1996. Timing of prospecting and the value of information in a colonial breeding bird. Journal of Avian Biology 27:252-256.

- Boulinier, T., K. D. McCoy, N. G. Yoccoz, J. Gasparini, and T. Tveraa. 2008. Public information affects breeding dispersal in a colonial bird: kittiwakes cue on neighbours. Biology Letters 4:538-540.
- Boulinier, T., N. G. Yoccoz, K. D. McCoy,
 K. E. Erikstad, and T. Tveraa.
 2002. Testing the effect of conspecific reproductive success on dispersal and recruitment decisions in a colonial bird: design issues. Journal of Applied Statistics 29:509-520.
- Bowler, D. E., and T. G. Benton. 2005. Causes and consequences of animal dispersal strategies: relating individual behaviour to spatial dynamics. Biological Reviews 80:205-225.
- Bullock, J. M., R. E. Kenward, and R. S. Hails. 2002. Dispersal ecology. Blackwell Science Ldt., Malden.
- Bullock, J. M., S. J. Galsworthy, P. Manzano, P. Poschlod, C. Eichberg, K. Walker, and M. C. Wichmann. 2011. Process-based functions for seed retention on animals: a test of improved descriptions of dispersal using multiple data sets. Oikos 120:1201-1208.
- Bullock, J. M., S. M. White, C. Prudhomme, C. Tansey, R. Perea, and D. A. P. Hooftman. 2012.
 Modelling spread of British wind-dispersed plants under future wind speeds in a changing climate. Journal of Ecology 100:104-115.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel interference. Springer, New York.
- Cabral, J. S., and F. M. Schurr. 2010. Estimating demographic models for the range dynamics of plant species. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19:85-97.

- Cadet, C., R. Ferriere, J. A. J. Metz, and M. van Baalen. 2003. The evolution of dispersal under demographic stochasticity. American Naturalist 162:427-441.
- Carrasco, L. R., J. D. Mumford, A. MacLeod, Τ. Harwood, G. Grabenweger, A. W. Leach, J. D. Knight, and R. H. A. Baker. 2010. Unveiling human-assisted dispersal mechanisms in invasive alien insects: Integration of spatial stochastic simulation and phenology models. Ecological Modelling 221:2068-2075.
- Clark, J. S. 1998. Why trees migrate so fast: Confronting theory with dispersal biology and the paleorecord. American Naturalist 152:204-224.
- Clark, J. S., M. Lewis, and L. Horvath. 2001. Invasion by extremes: Population spread with variation in dispersal and reproduction. American Naturalist 157:537-554.
- Clark, R. G., and D. Shutler. 1999. Avian habitat selection: Pattern from process in nest-site use by ducks? Ecology 80:272-287.
- Clobert, J., E. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols. 2001. Dispersal. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Clobert, J., R. A. Ims, and F. Rousset. 2004. Causes, mechanisms and consequences of dispersal. Pages 307-336 in I. Hanski and O. E. Gaggiotti, editors. Ecology, Genetics, and Evolution of Metapopulation. Elsevier Academic Press, Burlington.
- Comins, H. N., W. D. Hamilton, and R. M. May. 1980. Evolutionary stable dispersal strategies. Journal of Theoretical Biology 82:205-230.
- Cook, A., G. Marion, A. Butler, and G. Gibson. 2007. Bayesian inference for the spatio-temporal invasion of alien species. Bulletin of

Mathematical Biology 69:2005-2025.

- Cousens, R., C. Dytham, and R. Law. 2008. Dispersal in plants a population perspective. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Coutts, S. R., R. D. van Klinken, H. Yokomizo, and Y. M. Buckley. 2011. What are the key drivers of spread in invasive plants: dispersal, demography or landscape: and how can we use this knowledge to aid management? Biological Invasions 13:1649-1661.
- Cramp, S., and K. E. L. Simmons. 1988. The birds of the Western Palearctic. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Danchin, E., and E. Cam. 2002. Can nonbreeding be a cost of breeding dispersal? Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 51:153-163.
- Danchin, E., D. Heg, and B. Doligez. 2001. Public information and breeding habitat selection.in J. Clobert, E. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols, editors. Dispersal. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Doligez, B., C. Cadet, E. Danchin, and T. Boulinier. 2003. When to use public information for breeding habitat selection? The role of environmental predictability and density dependence. Animal Behaviour 66:973-988.
- Doligez, B., E. Danchin, and J. Clobert. 2002. Public information and breeding habitat selection in a wild bird population. Science 297:1168-1170.
- Doligez, B., E. Danchin, J. Clobert, and L. Gustafsson. 1999. The use of conspecific reproductive success for breeding habitat selection in a non-colonial, hole-nesting species, the collared flycatcher. Journal of Animal Ecology 68:1193-1206.

- Doligez, B., L. Gustafsson, and T. Part. 2009. 'Heritability' of dispersal propensity in a patchy population. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 276:2829-2836.
- Doligez, B., T. Part, and E. Danchin. 2004a. Prospecting in the collared flycatcher: gathering public information for future breeding habitat selection? Animal Behaviour 67:457-466.
- Doligez, B., T. Part, E. Danchin, J. Clobert, and L. Gustafsson. 2004b. Availability and use of public information and conspecific density for settlement decisions in the collared flycatcher. Journal of Animal Ecology 73:75-87.
- Domenech, R., M. Vila, J. Pino, and J. Gesti. 2005. Historical land-use legacy and Cortaderia selloana invasion in the Mediterranean region. Global Change Biology 11:1054-1064.
- Drury, K. L. S., and J. F. Candelaria. 2008. Using model identification to analyze spatially explicit data with habitat, and temporal, variability. Ecological Modelling 214:305-315.
- Dufty, A. M., J. Belthoff, and J. R. Belthoff. 2001. Proximate mechanisms of natal dispersal: the of body condition role and hormones.in J. Clobert, F. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols, editors. Dispersal. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Ficetola, G. F., L. Maiorano, A. Falcucci, N. Dendoncker, L. Boitani, E. Padoa-Schioppa, C. Miaud, and W. Thuiller. 2010. Knowing the past to predict the future: land-use change and the distribution of invasive bullfrogs. Global Change Biology 16:528-537.
- Fletcher, R. J. 2006. Emergent properties of conspecific attraction in

fragmented landscapes. American Naturalist 168:207-219.

- Forsman, J. T., M. B. Hjernquist, J. Taipale, and L. Gustafsson. 2008. Competitor density cues for habitat quality facilitating habitat selection and investment decisions. Behavioral Ecology 19:539-545.
- Gallien, L., T. Munkemuller, C. H. Albert, I. Boulangeat, and W. Thuiller. 2010. Predicting potential distributions of invasive species: where to go from here? Diversity and Distributions 16:331-342.
- Gandon, S. 1999. Kin competition, the cost of inbreeding and the evolution of dispersal. Journal of Theoretical Biology 200:345-364.
- Gaston, G. J. 2003. The structure and dynamics of geographic ranges. Oxford university press, New York.
- Gilbert, M., J. C. Gregoire, J. F. Freise, and W. Heitland. 2004. Long-distance dispersal and human population density allow the prediction of invasive patterns in the horse chestnut leafminer Cameraria ohridella. Journal of Animal Ecology 73:459-468.
- Greenwood, P. J. 1980. Mating Systems, Philopatry and Dispersal in Birds and Mammals. Animal Behaviour 28:1140-1162.
- Greenwood, P. J., and P. H. Harvey. 1982. The Natal and Breeding Dispersal of Birds. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 13:1-21.
- Grimm, V., U. Berger, F. Bastiansen, S. Eliassen, V. Ginot, J. Giske, J. Goss-Custard, T. Grand, S. K. Heinz, G. Huse, A. Huth, J. U. Jepsen, C. Jorgensen, W. M. Mooij, B. Muller, G. Pe'er, C. Piou, S. F. Railsback, A. M. Robbins, M. M. Robbins, E. Rossmanith, N. Ruger, E. Strand, S. Souissi, R. A. Stillman, R. Vabo, U. Visser, and D. L. DeAngelis. 2006. A standard

protocol for describing individualbased and agent-based models. Ecological Modelling 198:115-126.

- Grimm, V., E. Revilla, U. Berger, F. Jeltsch, W. M. Mooij, S. F. Railsback, H. H. Thulke, J. Weiner, T. Wiegand, and D. L. DeAngelis. 2005. Pattern-oriented modeling of agent-based complex systems: Lessons from ecology. Science 310:987-991.
- Gros, A., T. Hovestadt, and H. J. Poethke. 2008. Evolution of sex-biased dispersal: The role of sex-specific dispersal costs, demographic stochasticity, and inbreeding. Ecological Modelling 219:226-233.
- Gros, A., H. J. Poethke, and T. Hovestadt. 2009. Sex-specific spatio-temporal variability in reproductive success promotes the evolution of sexbiased dispersal. Theoretical Population Biology 76:13-18.
- Guisan, A., and N. E. Zimmermann. 2000. Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecological Modelling 135:147-186.
- Gustafsson, L. 1986. Life time reproductive success and heritability - empirical support for fisher fundamental theorem. American Naturalist 128:761-764.
- L. 1987. Interspecific Gustafsson, fitness in competition lowers **Flycatchers** Collard Ficedula allbicollis an experimental demonstration. Ecology 68:291-296.
- Gustafsson, L. 1989. Collared Flycatcher. Pages 75-88 in I. Newton, editor. Lifetime reproduction in birds. Academic Press, London.
- Haarlov, N. 1964. Life cycle and distribution pattern of Lipoptena Cervi(L.) (Dipt., Hippobosc.) on Danish deer. Oikos 15:93-129.
- Hackman, W. 1972. Algens lusfluga, en ostlig invandrare i Finland.; The

louse fly, an eastern immigrant in Finland. Memoranda Soc. Fauna and Flora Fennica 48:45-47.

- Hackman, W. 1977. Hirven taikarpanen ju sen levittaytyminen.; The deer-fly, Lipoptena cervi, invading Finland. Luonnon Tutkija 81:75-77.
- Hackman, W. 1979. Alglusflugans, Lipoptena cervi, invandringshistoria i Finland.; The deer ked, Lipoptena cervi, its history of spread in Finland. Entomologisk-Tidskrift.
- Hackman, W., T. Rantanen, and P.
 Vuojolahti. 1983. Immigration of Lipoptena cervi (Diptera, Hippoboscidae) in Finland, with notes on its biology and medical significance. Notulae-Entomologicae 63:53-59.
- Hamilton, W. D., and R. M. May. 1977. Dispersal in stable habitats. Nature 269:578-581.
- Handley, L. J. L., and N. Perrin. 2007. Advances in our understanding of mammalian sex-biased dispersal. Molecular Ecology 16:1559-1578.
- Hanski, I. 1994. A practical model of metapopulation dynamics. Journal of Animal Ecology 63:151-162.
- Hanski, I., C. J. Breuker, K. Schops, R. Setchfield, and M. Nieminen. 2002. Population history and life history influence the migration rate of female Glanville fritillary butterflies. Oikos 98:87-97.
- Hanski, I. K., and O. E. Gaggiotti, editors. 2004. Ecology, Genetics and Evolution of Metapopulations. Elsevier Academic Press, London.
- Hastings, A., K. Cuddington, K. F. Davies,
 C. J. Dugaw, S. Elmendorf, A.
 Freestone, S. Harrison, M.
 Holland, J. Lambrinos, U.
 Malvadkar, B. A. Melbourne, K.
 Moore, C. Taylor, and D. Thomson.
 2005. The spatial spread of invasions: new developments in

theory and evidence. Ecology Letters 8:91-101.

- Hirota, T. 2007. The evolution of sexual difference in dispersal strategy sensitive to population density. Applied Entomology and Zoology 42:173-179.
- Holt, R. D. 2003. On the evolutionary ecology of species' ranges. Evolutionary Ecology Research 5:159-178.
- Hooten, M. B., and C. K. Wikle. 2008. A hierarchical Bayesian non-linear spatio-temporal model for the spread of invasive species with application to the Eurasian Collared-Dove. Environmental and Ecological Statistics 15:59-70.
- Hovestadt, T., S. Messner, and H. J. Poethke. 2001. Evolution of reduced dispersal mortality and 'fat-tailed' dispersal kernels in autocorrelated landscapes. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 268:385-391.
- Ims, R. A., and D. O. Hjermann. 2001. Condition-dependent dispersal. Pages 201-216 in J. Clobert, E. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols, editors. Dispersal. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Jenni, L., and R. Winkler. 1994. Moult and Ageing of European Passerines. Academic Press, London.
- Jongejans, E., O. Skarpaas, and K. Shea. 2008. Dispersal, demography and spatial population models for conservation and control management. Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics 9:153-170.
- Katul, G. G., A. Porporato, R. Nathan, M.Siqueira, M. B. Soons, D. Poggi, H.S. Horn, and S. A. Levin. 2005.Mechanistic analytical models for long-distance seed dispersal by

wind. American Naturalist 166:368-381.

- Keeling, M. J., M. E. J. Woolhouse, D. J. Shaw, L. Matthews, M. Chase-Topping, D. T. Haydon, S. J. Cornell, J. Kappey, J. Wilesmith, and B. T. Grenfell. 2001. Dynamics of the 2001 UK foot and mouth epidemic: Stochastic dispersal in a heterogeneous landscape. Science 294:813-817.
- Kinlan, B. P., and A. Hastings. 2005. Rates of population spread and geographic range expansion: what excotic species tell us. Pages 381-420 in D. F. Sax, J. J. Stachowicz, and S. D. Gaines, editors. Spacies invasions insight into ecology, evolution, and biogeography. Sinauer Associates.
- Kokko, H. 2007. Modelling for Field Biologists and other interesting people. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Kokko, H., and A. Lopez-Sepulcre. 2006. From individual dispersal to species ranges: Perspectives for a changing world. Science 313:789-791.
- Kokko, H., and A. Lopez-Sepulcre. 2007. The ecogenetic link between demography and evolution: can we bridge the gap between theory and data? Ecology Letters 10:773-782.
- Kot, M., M. A. Lewis, and P. vandenDriessche. 1996. Dispersal data and the spread of invading organisms. Ecology 77:2027-2042.
- Lawrence, W. S. 1987. Dispersal an alternative mating tactic conditional on sex-ratio and body size. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 21:367-373.
- Lawrence, W. S. 1988. Movement ecology of the red milkweed beetle in relation to population-size and structure. Journal of Animal Ecology 57:21-35.

- LeBrun, E. G., R. M. Plowes, and L. E. Gilbert. 2008. Dynamic expansion in recently introduced populations of fire ant parasitoids (Diptera : Phoridae). Biological Invasions 10:989-999.
- Lehmann, L., and N. Perrin. 2003. Inbreeding avoidance through kin recognition: Choosy females boost male dispersal. American Naturalist 162:638-652.
- Lindstrom, T., N. Hakansson, and U. Wennergren. 2011. The shape of the spatial kernel and its implications for biological invasions in patchy environments. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 278:1564-1571.
- Loxdale, H. D., and G. Lushai. 1999. Slaves of the environment: the movement of herbivorous insects in relation to their ecology and genotype. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 354:1479-1495.
- Luoma, A. 2002. Moose Hunting in Finland - management of a heavily harvested population. Dissertation, University of Helsinki.
- Matthysen, E. 2005. Density-dependent dispersal in birds and mammals. Ecography 28:403-416.
- McPeek, M. A., and R. D. Holt. 1992. The evolution of dispersal in spatially and temporally varying envionments. American Naturalist 140:1010-1027.
- Motro, U. 1991. Avoiding inbreeding and sibling competition - The evolution of sexual dimorphism for dispersal. American Naturalist 137:108-115.
- Muirhead, J. R., B. Leung, C. van Overdijk,
 D. W. Kelly, K. Nandakumar, K. R.
 Marchant, and H. J. MacIsaac.
 2006. Modelling local and longdistance dispersal of invasive emerald ash borer Agrilus

planipennis (Coleoptera) in North America. Diversity and Distributions 12:71-79.

- Murrell, D. J., J. M. J. Travis, and C. Dytham. 2002. The evolution of dispersal distance in spatiallystructured populations. Oikos 97:229-236.
- Neubert, M. G., and H. Caswell. 2000. Demography and dispersal: Calculation and sensitivity analysis of invasion speed for structured populations. Ecology 81:1613-1628.
- Nocera, J. J., G. J. Forbes, and L. A. Giraldeau. 2006. Inadvertent social information in breeding site selection of natal dispersing birds. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 273:349-355.
- Okubo, A. 1980. Diffusion and ecological problems: mathematical models. Springer, New York.
- Okubo, A., and S. A. Levin. 2002. Diffusion and Ecological Problems. 2. edition. Springer, Princeton.
- Olivieri, I., Y. Michalakis, and P. H. Gouyon. 1995. Metapopulation genetics and the evolution of dispersal. American Naturalist 146:202-228.
- Orians, G. H., and J. F. Wittenberger. 1991. Spatial and temporal scales in habitat selection. American Naturalist 137:S29-S49.
- Ovaskainen, O., H. Rekola, E. Meyke, and E. Arjas. 2008. Bayesian methods for analyzing movements in heterogeneous landscapes from mark-recapture data. Ecology 89:542-554.
- Pagel, J., and F. M. Schurr. 2012. Forecasting species ranges by statistical estimation of ecological niches and spatial population dynamics. Global Ecology and Biogeography 21:293-304.
- Perrin, N., and V. Mazalov. 2000. Local competition, inbreeding, and the

evolution of sex-biased dispersal. American Naturalist 155:116-127.

- Petrovskii, S., A. Mashanova, V. A. A. Jansen. 2011. Variation in individual walking behavior creates the impression of a Levy flight. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 108:8704-8707.
- Phillips, B. L., G. P. Brown, J. M. J. Travis, and R. Shine. 2008a. Reid's paradox revisited: The evolution of dispersal kernels during range expansion. American Naturalist 172:S34-S48.
- Phillips, B. L., J. D. Chipperfield, and M.
 R. Kearney. 2008b. The toad ahead: challenges of modelling the range and spread of an invasive species. Wildlife Research 35:222-234.
- Pärt, T. 1990. Natal dispersal in the Collared flycatcher - possible causes and reproductive consequences. Ornis Scandinavica 21:83-88.
- Pärt, T., D. Arlt, B. Doligez, M. Low, and A. Quarnström. 2011. Prospectors combine social and environmental information to improve habitat selection and breeding success in the subsequent year. Journal of Animal Ecology 80:1227-1235.
- Pärt, T., and L. Gustafsson. 1989. Breeding dispersal in the Collard flycatcher (Ficedula albicollis) - possible causes and reproductive consequences. Journal of Animal Ecology 58:305-320.
- Reed, J. M., T. Boulinier, E. Danchin, andO. W. Lewis. 1999. Informeddispersal Prospecting by Birds forBreeding Sites. CurrentOrnithology 15.
- Ronce, O. 2007. How does it feel to be a rolling stone? Ten question about dispersal evolution. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 38:231-253.

- Ronce, O., I. Olivieri, J. Clobert, and E. Danchin. 2001. Perspective on the study of dispersal evolution. Pages 341-357 in J. Clobert, E. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols, editors. Dispersal. Oxford Univeristy press, Oxford.
- Rousset, F., and S. Gandon. 2002. Evolution of the distribution of dispersal distance under distancedependent cost of dispersal. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 15:515-523.
- Schneider, C., J. Dover, and G. L. A. Fry. 2003. Movement of two grassland butterflies in the same habitat network: the role of adult resources and size of the study area. Ecological Entomology 28:219-227.
- Schurr, F. M., O. Steinitz, and R. Nathan. 2008. Plant fecundity and seed dispersal in spatially heterogeneous environments: models, mechanisms and estimation. Journal of Ecology 96:628-641.
- Sharov, A. A., B. C. Pijanowski, A. M. Liebhold, and S. H. Gage. 1999. What affects the rate of gypsy moth (Lepidoptera: Lymantriidae) spread: winter temperature or forest susceptibility? Agricultural and Forest Entomology 1:37-45.
- Skarpaas, O., and K. Shea. 2007. Dispersal patterns, dispersal mechanisms, and invasion wave speeds for invasive thistles. American Naturalist 170:421-430.
- Skellam, J. G. 1951. Random dispersal in theoretical populations. Biometrika 38:196-218.
- Stamps, J. A. 2001. Habitat selection by dispersers: integrating proximate and ultimate approaches.in J. Clobert, E. Danchin, A. A. Dhondt, and J. D. Nichols, editors. Dispersal. Oxford university press, Oxford.

- Stanaway, M. A., R. Reeves, and K. L. Mengersen. 2011. Hierarchical Bayesian modelling of plant pest invasions with human-mediated dispersal. Ecological Modelling 222:3531-3540.
- Starrfelt, J., and H. Kokko. 2010. Parent-Offspring Conflict and the Evolution of Dispersal Distance. American Naturalist 175:38-49.
- Svensson, L. 1992. Identification Guide to European Passerines. 4th edition. Svensson, Stockholm.
- Switzer, P. V. 1997. Past reproductive success affects future habitat selection. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 40:307-312.
- Thuiller, W., S. Lavorel, and M. B. Araujo. 2005. Niche properties and geographical extent as predictors of species sensitivity to climate change. Global Ecology and Biogeography 14:347-357.
- Travis, J. M. J., and C. Dytham. 1998. The evolution of dispersal in a metapopulation: a spatially explicit, individual-based model. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 265:17-23.
- Travis, J. M. J., D. J. Murrell, and C. Dytham. 1999. The evolution of density-dependent dispersal. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 266:1837-1842.
- Travis, J. M. J., and C. Dytham. 2002. Dispersal evolution during invasions. Evolutionary Ecology Research 4:1119-1129.
- Travis, J. M. J., and D. R. French. 2000. Dispersal functions and spatial models: expanding our dispersal toolbox. Ecology Letters 3:163-165.
- Travis, J. M. J., C. M. Harris, K. J. Park, and J. M. Bullock. 2011. Improving prediction and management of range expansions by combining analytical and individual-based

modelling approaches. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 2:477-488.

- Travis, J. M. J., T. Munkemuller, and O. J. Burton. 2010. Mutation surfing and the evolution of dispersal during range expansions. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 23:2656-2667.
- Travis, J. M. J., C. M. Harris, K. J. Park, and J. M. Bullock. 2011. Improving prediction and management of range expansions by combining analytical and individual-based modelling approaches. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 2:477-488.
- Travis, J. M. J., C. M. Harris, K. J. Park, and J. M. Bullock. 2012. Improving prediction and management of range expansions by combining analytical and individual-based modelling approaches. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 2:477-488.
- Turchin, P. 1998. Quantitative Analysis of Movement. Sinauer Associates Inc., Massachusetts.
- Urban, M. C., B. L. Phillips, D. K. Skelly, and R. Shine. 2007. The cane toad's (Chaunus [Bufo] marinus) increasing ability to invade Australia is revealed by a dynamically updated range model. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 274:1413-1419.
- Valone, T. J., and J. J. Templeton. 2002. Public information for the assessment of quality: a widespread social phenomenon. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 357:1549-1557.
- Van den Bosch, F., R. Hengeveld, and J. A. J. Metz. 1992. Analyzing the velocity of animal range expansion. Journal of Biogeography 19:135-150.
- Van den Bosch, F., J. A. J. Metz, and O. Diekmann. 1990. The velocity of spatial population expansion.

Journal of Mathematical Biology 28:529-565.

- Wang, H. H., W. E. Grant, T. M. Swannack, J. B. Gan, W. E. Rogers, T. E. Koralewski, J. H. Miller, and J. W. Taylor. 2011. Predicted range expansion of Chinese tallow tree (Triadica sebifera) in forestlands of the southern United States. Diversity and Distributions 17:552-565.
- Wichmann, M. C., M. J. Alexander, M. B.
 Soons, S. Galsworthy, L. Dunne, R.
 Gould, C. Fairfax, M. Niggemann,
 R. S. Hails, and J. M. Bullock.
 2009. Human-mediated dispersal
 of seeds over long distances.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society BBiological Sciences 276:523-532.
- Wiegand, T., F. Jeltsch, I. Hanski, and V. Grimm. 2003. Using patternoriented modeling for revealing hidden information: a key for reconciling ecological theory and application. Oikos 100:209-222.
- Wikle, C. K. 2003. Hierarchical Bayesian models for predicting the spread of ecological processes. Ecology 84:1382-1394.
- With, K. A. 2002. The landscape ecology of invasive spread. Conservation Biology 16:1192-1203.
- Von Brander, T. 1976. Massenauftreten der Hirschlausfliege Lipoptena cervi 1971 in Sudostfinnland.; Mass outbreak of the deer hippoboscid Lipoptena cervi in 1971 in southeastern Finland. Angewandte Parasitologie 17:168-169.
- Vuilleumier, S., and H. P. Possingham. 2006. Does colonization asymmetry matter in metapopulations? Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 273:1637-1642.
- Välimaki, P., K. Madslien, J. Malmsten, L. Härkönen, S. Härkönen, A. Kaitala, R. Kortet, S. Laaksonen, R. Mehl,

L. Redford, H. Ylönen, and B. Ytrehus. 2010. Fennoscandian distribution of an important parasite of cervids, the deer ked (Lipoptena cervi), revisited. Parasitology Research 107:117-125.

Zoological Museum Finland. 1988. Vuoden 1985 tulokset suomalaisen hyonteislajin levinneisyyskartoituksesta.; Results of mapping the distribution of 21 species of insects in Finland

in 1985. Notulae-Entomologicae 68:9-24.

Acknowledgements

Gladly I will remember all the amazing people that supported and put trust in me through all the years of my PhD.

It was Lukas Keller, the supervisor of my Master thesis, who fostered my enthusiasm for science, supported my idea of going abroad and thus he connected me to Hanna. Thank you Lukas for providing me this link and for all the encouragement you gave me afterwards when I had doubts about the progress of my thesis. I thank Hanna Kokko for granting me a PhD position, for being my supervisor and implanting in me some very inspiring, yet sometimes challenging, new ideas about ecology and modelling. Hanna also taught me some Finnish culture and I will keep many nice memories about the mökki weekends she organized for the Kokkonuts. Despite Hanna becoming a remote supervisor later in my PhD, she invested much in getting my first manuscript ready.

When I needed an additional supervisor Veijo Kaitala kindly stepped in and made it possible to continue my thesis in Helsinki. During my last year I was absolutely lucky to find in Dries Bonte my third Phd supervisor. The encounter proved to be the best thing that could have possibly happened during my PhD. I am deeply indebted to Dries, not only for providing me funding, but also for accepting me into a new nest and providing me a rich scientific environment. I would like to thank him very much for all the effort he made to support my writing and the time he took for scientific discussion.

My PhD would not have succeeded without the contribution of many collaborators. Otso Ovaskainen deserves special thanks for putting me back on track when I was struggling with the methodology for chapter II. His patience enabled me to learn a lot from him. Wouter Vahl was indispensable as a collaborator, for being my statistical mentor and for giving me moral support when progress seemed impossible. My field experiment would not have been feasible without the precious advice and experience of Blandine Doligez. She supported not only my field logistical needs, but she was also of great assistance while analysing and writing up the flycatcher project.

During my PhD I had the privilege to work in several different countries and was lucky to meet supportive people everywhere. During my first year in Iceland 1 met Tómas Gunnarsson, Jennifer Gill, Pete Potts, Ruth Croger, Tim Walker, and Helen Demopoulos. They learn me ringing birds and we spend a wonderful time observing and running behind the Godwits. I also will never forget the people from Sel: Árni, Alla, Dora, and Thóruun, who hosted me during my time in Iceland. For the next field season in Gotland I received support from Lars Gustafsson with tips, scientific ideas, and excellent cuisine. I am grateful also for the collaboration with Mélissa Lemoine and the support of many Finnish and French field assistant, especially Martin Thoris which had to cycle a lot to help my team. Tuomo Jaakkonen deserves special thanks collaboration and introducing me to the handling of the flycatchers. In Helsinki I received once a year valuable input on my work from Hannu Pietiäinen, an advisor in my follow up committee, and Anni Tonteri was there for me when I needed an answer for difficult administrative tasks. I like to thank two external pre- examiners, Justin Travis and Ben Phillips, for the constructive comments on my thesis. I am very glad that Tomas Pärt was willing to be my opponent and that Pekka Pamilo agreed to be my custos. I hope I can thank them after my defence for a nice performance.

My work life would not have been so enjoyable without my colleagues. Very important to me were the Kokkonuts, the member of our group in Helsinki. I am very glad I had a peer in Jostein. He was excellent partner for scientific conversations, but luckily he also could enjoy just sitting in a bar and listening to my lamentation about the cruelties of a PhD student's existence. Usually he would in return tell me an incredible story, make an attempt to beat me in tabletop football, or made a suggestion to visit a place with a live concert. While discussing science with Wouter was fun, he was also great company on several excursions, for example in Ahvenanmaa. always appreciated Katja's honest and constructive feedbacks, and she and her family reminded me that work is not the only thing in life that counts. Maria was able to brighten me up and remind me how exciting the subject of dispersal is. Hope, Jussi, Barbara, and Debora thank you all for being there for fun and discussions.

The department in Helsinki also hosted some other friends. Heini was my most endurable Finnish teacher and parties organized by her were a guarantee for great fun. Joona is an outstanding example of a Finn, who enjoys discussing more controversial topics, and I am so glad I have met him. Thank you Kimi for share the desire for adventure and outdoor activity, Chris for his talent of tempting me do special things (construct a bed, deconstruct a shelf,...), Mike for poker and ice fishing, Vilpu, Saija, Marco, Johan, Aksl, Mari, and Antti for entertaining lunch discussions in Gardenia, Luisa, Marjo, and Celine for preparing nice food together, Daniel for being a climbing buddy, Ace, Ayco, Leon, and Jan for tabletop football breaks.

When I had to leave Helsini I was warmly welcome at the Terec for the last year of my PhD. I will especially remember how Greet introduced me to the peculiarities of Belgium, Jeroen for being my city tour

32

guide, and all the others for unforgettable streekbieravond, barbeques in the park and all those kind invitations to defence parties. I wish I could combine the people from Gent and Helsinki for a big party.

I should not forget to also thank all those friends, who made my life exciting beside work, and who offered me distraction during stressful periods. I felt very welcome at Merimelojat, and I am very grateful for all the poolo playing and our trips to Kymijoki, Taivalkoski, Vongankoski, and to the islands around Helsinki. I was lucky to find nice climbing friends, who help me to overcome my home sickness for Swiss mountains (in particular Eero, who showed me the greatest wall in Finland), and I enjoyed the get together and journeys with the gang from Oulu. In good memories I will keep those Swiss visitors to Helsinki and to Gotland during field work. Finally, I thank Jarda to introduce me to all the nature spots around Gent and for being the friend who accompanied me to these places.

Even though I was far away from home I always felt very much supported by my family. They were interested in where I was living and came visiting me - to Gent even by bike. Visiting them during holidays every time recharged my batteries; they offered gracious hospitality to Hannele and me, and they always helped us get ready for our excursions. Thanks also to Seppo and Helena for having me in Oulu and at your cabin, where I was introduced to some of the most beautiful nature spots in Finland.

Finally, I thank Hannele, who was there for me whenever I needed her. She managed to brighten me up and was very patient with me. My life was clearly much happier thanks to all the adventures she shared with me. Thanks and a big hug for this support.

